FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
8/12/2022 11:33 AM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/12/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

101167-9

NO. 56900-1-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KITSAP COUNTY, Respondent,

v.

DOMINIC CAMPESE, Petitioner.

PETITIONER CAMPESE'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Attorney for Petitioner Dominic Campese:

Nicholas Power WSBA #45972 The Law Office of Nicholas Power 540 Guard St., Suite 150 Friday Harbor, WA 98250 (360) 298-0464 (Phone)

III. Issue Presented for Review

Is a requester of public records a prevailing party for the purposes of the fee, cost and penalty provision of the Public Records Act when an agency brings a declaratory judgment action against a requester asserting the requested records are exempt but, during the course of the litigation, agrees that the records should be disclosed, tenders the records to the requester, and subsequently voluntarily dismisses its action prior

to a determination on the merits?

IV. Statement of the Case

Campese is a professional documentary film maker. He became interested in Kitsap County's law enforcement standards, policies, protocols, and oversight after the July 2019 killing of Stonechild Chiefstick by local law enforcement. Campese has produced a seven-episode series entitled "The Killing of Stonechild Chiefstick" distributed by Amazon and other media platforms.

To conduct research for his multipart documentary series, in March of 2020, Campese made a public records request of Kitsap County pursuant to Washington's Public Records Act, RCW 42.56, so that he could inspect Kitsap's "Brady List and Brady Materials".

Initially Kitsap indicated that it would be fulfilling the request albeit in installments. On August 28, 2020, Kitsap County proceeded to provide Campese with 72 pages of records that were purported to be responsive of Campese's request. Some 10 weeks later, on November 16, 2020, Kitsap disclosed its Brady List and further indicated that it would be providing the balance of the responsive materials by February 12, 2021.

Despite having indicated that it was going to produce the requested material, Kitsap changed its tune and on December 3, 2020, some 10 months after Campese made his request, initiated this action as a declaratory judgment action against Campese in Pierce County Superior Court.

Kitsap's suit against Campese sought determination of "whether investigative records compiled by the Kitsap County Prosecuting Attorney in compliance with the constitutional requirements of *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83 (1963) and its progeny, and Criminal Rule (CrR) 4.7, are exempt from disclosure under the Public Records Act pursuant to RCW 42.56.290 as attorney work-product."

In response to Kitsap's suit, Campese asserted a mirroring counterclaim asserting that Kitsap's refusal to provide the requested records was a violation of the PRA.

Campese commenced written discovery and took the depositions of Kitsap County Elected Prosecutor Chad Enright and the 30(b)(6) depositions of two deputy prosecutors who were responsible for the assembly and maintenance of Kitsap's Brady materials and the processing of Campese's request.

During his deposition, Prosecutor Enright admitted that Campese should be provided with the records he sought. Accordingly, shortly after these depositions, Kitsap tendered all remaining responsive records to Mr. Campese thereby fulfilling his request.

Kitsap then moved to voluntarily dismiss its declaratory judgment action.

After expending tens of thousands of dollars in fees and costs litigating against Kitsap so he could view the records, Campese moved for the fees, costs, and penalties, incurred defending against the aborted declaratory judgment action pursuant to RCW 42.56.550(4) and the frivolous claims statute RCW 4.84.185.

The trial court denied Campese's request for fees, costs, and penalties on April 16, 2021, holding that Campese's claims were premature as Campese had not proactively established that he was entitled to review the records despite Kitsap's acquiescence.

On review, the Court of Appeals upheld the trial court's determination that Campese was not entitled to recover fees, costs or penalties on July 12, 2022. See Exhibit A.

Holding that Mr. Campese's request was premature Division II understood the nature of Mr. Campese's appeal to be that "Campese appeals the [trial] court's order denying his motion as premature." Ex. A at 4. The Court of Appeals reasoned, "In light of the fact that Campese's counterclaims (alleging that the County violated the PRA) were still pending, the most logical reading of the order is that the trial court was merely deferring ruling on Campese's request until the case was fully concluded." Id. At 5.

Such is a legally insufficient and erroneous ground to deny fee and cost recovery. The declaratory judgment action was over, and Mr. Campese was entitled to fees and costs incurred defending against that action regardless of whether he chose to continue litigating his counterclaim.

Indeed, since the purpose behind PRA suits is to <u>obtain</u> records, Kitsap's tender obviated the need for Campese's counterclaim requesting that the court order the disclosure of the records. Simply, by virtue of Kitsap's tender, Campese's counterclaim became moot as he no longer needed to sue to obtain the records he wanted to review.

Kitsap asserted, and the courts below agreed, that it was

incumbent on Campese – a reluctant litigant -- to continue to litigate his moot counterclaim and establish something that need not be decided – that he had a right to review the records.

Because the burden to prove an exemption was on Kitsap (RCW 42.56.550(1)), the onus was unequivocally on Kitsap to establish as a matter of law that Campese *was not* entitled to the records. When Kitsap abandoned its claim of exemption after dragging Campese into court, fee and cost recovery was mandatory at that time. Accordingly, the lower courts' rulings that Campese's request for fees, costs and penalties was premature, were in error.

In other words, independent of whether Campese was entitled to fees, costs and penalties associated with his counterclaim, Campese was entitled as a matter of right to fees, costs and penalties incurred since Kitsap's abandoned declaratory judgment action and did not obtain a ruling on the merits and he had prevailed per the terms of RCW 42.56.550(4).

V. Grounds for Review: RAP 13.4(b)

The appeal merits direct review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) and (4). As it presents a question of great public importance and would resolve conflicting dicta in opinions by

the Court of Appeals as to what is means to "prevail" under RCW 42.56.550(4).

VI. DISCUSSION

In Washington public records are presumptively open for public inspection and the burden is on the agency to establish that an exemption exists to justify the withholding of the record. RCW 42.56.550(1). Requesters that prevail "*in any action* in the courts seeking the right to inspect or copy any public record...shall be awarded all costs, including reasonable attorney fees, incurred in connection of such legal action." RCW 42.56.550(4). (Emphasis supplied).

In the present case, Kitsap by filing its declaratory judgment action and withholding records from Campese unequivocally took the position that Campese had no right to review the records that he sought. If Campese wanted to review the records, he had no choice but to engage in litigation and defend against the declaratory judgment action. And that is what he did.

After discovery made it clear that Kitsap's position was factually and legally untenable, Kitsap relented, provided the records to Campese and moved for voluntary dismissal. Because

Mr. Campese was forced to litigate this matter to obtain records which Kitsap failed to establish were exempt, he is entitled to statutorily prescribed fees, costs and, potentially, penalties. This conclusion holds true regardless of whether Campese made (or litigated to completion) his counterclaim.

Because public records are presumptively open for public inspection, the onus was on Kitsap to demonstrate that Campese was not entitled to review the records. ("The burden of proof shall be on the agency to establish that refusal to permit public inspection and copying is in accordance with a statute that exempts or prohibits disclosure in whole or in part of specific information or records." RCW 42.56.550(1).)

This matter is of profound public importance because should this Court let the decision on appeal stand agencies will be free to force a requester to incur fees and costs defending against declaratory judgment actions with impunity. Moreover, holding that Campese must proactively establish his right to review the records is inefficient as the tender of the records satisfied his interest. It makes little sense to force the litigants and the courts to make a theoretical decision on a matter that has been rendered moot by the voluntary tender of the records in

dispute.

In general, if a plaintiff voluntarily dismisses its suit under CR 41, the defendant is the prevailing party for purposes of attorney's fees. See, *Walji v. Candyco*, Inc., 57 Wn. App. 284 (1990), See also, *Andersen v. Gold Seal Vineyards*, Inc., 81 Wn. 2d 863 (1973), *Soper v. Clibborn*, 31 Wn. App. 767 (1982).

The Supreme Court has affirmed this proposition in PRA cases. "Permitting an agency to avoid attorney fees by disclosing the documents after the plaintiff has been forced to file a lawsuit . . . would undercut the policy behind the act." Spokane Research Fund v. City of Spokane, 117 P.3d 1117 (2005), quoting Coalition on Government Spying (COGS) v. King County Department of Public Safety, 59 Wn. App. 856, 862 (Div. 1, 1990). In COGS, like here, the responding agency agreed to disclose records to the requester but continued to maintain that the requester was not legally entitled to those records under the Public Disclosure Act¹. Nevertheless, for purpose of fees and costs, the requester was held to have

1

¹ The Public Disclosure Act was recodified as the Public Records Act in 2006. The fee provision section of the PDA, RCW 42.17.350(3), was recodified in the PRA as RCW 42.56.550(4) as it exists today (except for an increase in the maximum per diem penalty) and the Supreme Court has held that decisions interpreting the PDA are authoritative with respect to the PRA. See, *Neighborhood Alliance of Spokane Cty. v. City. Of Spokane*, 172 Wash.2d 702, 261 P.3d 119 (2011).

been the substantially² prevailing party.

The *COGS* court posed the question thusly:

The plain language of RCW 42.17.340(3)³ is susceptible to more than one interpretation. It is unclear whether "in the courts" modifies "prevails" or "action." If "in the courts" modifies "prevails," then the plaintiff cannot recover unless it prevails in court. However, if "in the courts" modifies "action," then the plaintiff may recover if it has prevailed and if filing an action in court was necessary to obtain disclosure. Under the latter interpretation, the plaintiff could prevail if the documents were disclosed after the plaintiff filed an action, even though the plaintiff did not prevail in court for the simple reason that no court judgment was necessary.

Id. at 861. Emphasis in original.

The Court further noted:

The scheme of the WPDA "establishes a positive duty to disclose public records unless they fall within the specific exemptions." *Progressive Animal Welfare Soc'y*, at 682-83 (quoting *Hearst*, at 130). If an agency discloses documents it believes to be exempt, that

² The Supreme Court went further in *Spokane Research Fund v. City of Spokane*, 117 P.3d 1117 (2005) and criticized the *COGS* court for being too restrictive with respect to its test determining whether a party had prevailed under the PRA. "FOIA allows fees and costs to a party who "substantially prevail[s]," within the discretion of the court. 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(E). To substantially prevail, the plaintiff must prove his action was reasonably necessary to obtain the information and the action had a causative effect on the release. *See COGS*, 59 Wash.App. at 863, 801 P.2d 1009 (citing *Miller v. U.S. Dep't of State*, 779 F.2d 1378, 1389 (8th Cir.1985)). The COGS court adopted this standard for the PDA; we never have, and decline to do so. Our statute says nothing about "substantially prevailing" and differs from the federal scheme at several important points, notably mandatory fees and penalties. See PAWS I, 114 Wash.2d at 687-88, 790 P.2d 604. Further, we have said that "`strict enforcement of fees and fines will discourage improper denial of access to public records." *PAWS* II, 125 Wash.2d at 272, 884 P.2d 592 (quoting 114 Wash.2d at 686, 790 P.2d 604)." *Spokane Research* at 1126, n. 11.

agency runs the risk of violating a governmental duty or an individual's right of privacy. Thus, when the Department disclosed the records in 1980 without having sought any declaratory relief, the Department waived its right to claim they were exempt.

Id. at 864. Emphasis supplied.

The purpose of the mandatory attorney's fee provision is to encourage broad disclosure and to deter agencies from improperly denying access to public records. Confederated Tribes of Chehalis Reservation v. Johnson, 135 Wn.2d 734, 757, 958 P.2d 260 (1998); see also WAC 44-14-08004(7) (Attorney General's non-binding Model Rules on Public Records) ("The purpose of the Act's mandatory fees and daily penalty provisions is to reimburse the requestor for vindicating the public's right to obtain public records, to make it financially feasible for requestors to do so, and to deter agencies from improperly withholding records."). An agency's good faith, if present, does not change the mandatory nature of the attorney's fee award. Amren v. City of Kalama, 131 Wn.2d 25, 35-36, 929 P.2d 389 (1997). Accordingly, "permitting a liberal recovery" of attorney's fees for a requestor in a PRA enforcement action "is consistent with the policy behind the act by making it financially feasible for private citizens to enforce the public's right to access public

records." ACLU v. Blaine Sch. Dist. No. 503, 95 Wn. App. 106, 115, 975 P.2d 536 (1999).

Washington courts have consistently held that agencies cannot escape attorney's fees by simply tendering the requested documents after suit has been filed. "Permitting an agency to avoid attorney fees by disclosing the documents after the plaintiff has been forced to file a lawsuit . . . would undercut the policy behind the act." Spokane Research Fund v. City of Spokane, 117 P.3d 1117 (2005), quoting Coalition on Government Spying (COGS) v. King County Department of Public Safety, 59 Wn. App. 856, 862 (Div. 1, 1990).

It is the established public policy of the State of Washington that an individual citizen is not to bear the economic costs of obtaining records that they have a right to review. As Kitsap had the burden to establish a viable exemption and was the party that initiated this lawsuit, and later was the one to say essentially "oops! never mind! here are your records, and we are dismissing our suit against you" it is hard to see how it is just, fair, or lawful for Campese to bear economic costs.

It must be further recognized that Campese's counterclaim was compulsory as it arose out of the exact same factual circumstances of Kitsap's petition. *Schoeman v. New York Life Ins.*

Co., 106 Wn.2d 855, 726 P.2d 1, (1986). Campese *had* to assert his counterclaim, or forever lose it. Campese's counterclaim entitled him to undertake discovery not just on the issue of whether records were subject to an exemption (liability) but additionally the counterclaim allowed him to explore the *motivations* behind Kitsap's decision to withhold the records. *Yousoufian v. Office of Ron Sims, 168 Wash.2d 444, 229 P.3d 735 (2010)*.

The determination by the lower courts that unless Campese established that he was entitled to the records, he did not "prevail" is correct is most circumstances. Such a proposition is valid in the normal circumstance when a requester sues an agency for records. But here it was the agency suing to establish the validity of its asserted exemption. Mr. Campese was a reluctant litigant. It therefore was incumbent on Kitsap to follow through with its suit and establish that the records were exempt from disclosure in order to escape liability for fees, costs and penalties. In other words, Kitsap had to prove that its claimed exemption was right.

In Spokane Research, this Court noted:

Rather, the "prevailing" relates to the legal question of whether the records should have been disclosed *on request*. Subsequent events do not affect the wrongfulness of the agency's initial action to withhold the records if the records were wrongfully withheld at that time. Penalties

may be properly assessed for the time between the request and the disclosure, even if the disclosure occurs for reasons unrelated to the lawsuit.

Spokane Research & Def. Fund v. City of Spokane, 155 Wash.2d 89, 103, 117 P.3d 1117 (2005).

Accordingly, "permitting a liberal recovery" of attorney's fees for a requestor in a PRA enforcement action "is consistent with the policy behind the act by making it financially feasible for private citizens to enforce the public's right to access public records." *ACLU v. Blaine Sch. Dist. No. 503*, 95 Wn. App. 106, 115, 975 P.2d 536 (1999).

After dragging Mr. Campese into court and causing him to needlessly expend tens of thousands of dollars to obtain the documents that Kitsap now freely admits he should be able to review, it is both fair and the law that Kitsap shoulder the financial burden of the litigation.

Recently, this Court rejected the notion that an agency could unilaterally construct barriers to requesters. In *Kilduff v. San Juan County*, this Court invalidated San Juan's local ordinance that required requesters to administratively appeal (at the county level) a denial of the right to inspect public records prior to bringing suit.

Kilduff v. San Juan County, 453 P.3d 719 (2019). Kitsap is attempting to engineer an end-run around Kilduff. Instead of making a requester go through an internal procedure, Kitsap cynically used the judicial machinery to make Campese unnecessarily mount a defense to its declaratory judgment action only to later abandon it.

This issue is of profound public importance. If the decision below is let stand, it will become the practice for agencies to attempt to dissuade requesters by filing these *faux* suits to test the fortitude of the requester before providing records which an agency does not want to disclose. This Court should take the opportunity to review this matter and give unequivocal guidance to discourage opportunistic litigation designed to do nothing more than frustrate the public's access to records and unnecessarily incur costs on citizens seeking public records.

Respectfully submitted this 12th day of August 2022.

/s/ Nicholas Power

Nicholas Power WSBA #45974 The Law Office of Nicholas Power 540 Guard St., Suite 150 Friday Harbor, WA 98250 (360) 298-0464 (Phone)

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I certify under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of Washington that today I e-filed and delivered a copy of the foregoing **Petition for Review** by email pursuant to an electronic service agreement among the parties to the following:

Susan Rogers at srogers@co.kitsap.wa.us
Jacquelyn M. Aufderheide at JAufderh@co.kitsap.wa.us
Batrice Fredsti bfredsti@co.kitsap.wa.us
Bill Crittenden at bill@billcrittenden.com

Signed under penalty of perjury in Friday Harbor, WA on August 12, 2022.

<u>s/Nicholas Power</u> Nicholas Power WSBA No. 45974

Exhibit A

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

KITSAP COUNTY, a political subdivision of the State of Washington, No. 56900-1-II

Respondent,

v.

DOMINIC CAMPESE, an individual,

UNPUBLISHED OPINION

Appellant.

CRUSER, J. – Kitsap County, in response to Dominic Campese's public records request, brought an action for declaratory judgment. The County asked the court to determine whether certain records Campese requested fell under an exemption, absolving the County from its obligation to release the records to Campese. Campese counterclaimed. Prior to the court ruling on any of the claims, the court granted the County's motion to dismiss its suit. Campese then moved for a penalty award under the Public Records Act (PRA)¹ as well as attorney fees and costs under the PRA and RCW 4.84.185. The court concluded that Campese's motion was premature and denied his motion. Campese appeals the denial of his motion.

Campese argues that the trial court erred when it did not conclude Campese was the prevailing party for purposes of RCW 42.56.550(4) after the County dismissed its suit for

_

¹ Chapter 42.56 RCW.

No. 56900-1-II

declaratory judgment, and declined to award him a PRA penalty, attorney fees, and costs pursuant to that statute. Campese also argues, as an alternative basis for awarding a PRA penalty, attorney fees and costs, the County violated the PRA when it failed to name similar requesters in its suit. Finally, Campese argues that he was entitled to attorney fees and costs under RCW 4.84.185 because the County's declaratory judgment suit was frivolous.

We conclude that the trial court did not err when it denied Campese's motion for a PRA penalty, attorney fees, and costs. Accordingly, we affirm.

FACTS

A. PRA REQUEST

In March 2020, Campese submitted a public records request for Kitsap County's "*Brady* [I]ist and *Brady* material." Clerk's Papers at 44 (italicization added). The County acknowledged Campese's request, and it provided Campese with records in two initial installments, in August and November respectively. The County also informed Campese it anticipated that another installment would be provided by February 12, 2021.

B. THE COUNTY FILED SUIT, AND CAMPESE COUNTERCLAIMED

Prior to the next installment, the County filed a petition for declaratory judgment, asking the court to determine, "Whether investigative records compiled by the Kitsap County Prosecuting Attorney in compliance with the constitutional requirements of *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83 (1963) and its progeny, and Criminal Rule (CrR) 4.7, are exempt from disclosure under the Public Records Act pursuant to RCW 42.56.290 as attorney work-product." *Id.* at 1. Campese was the only respondent listed in the petition, despite the County also noting that it had received "three

² Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S. Ct. 1194, 10 L. Ed. 2d 215 (1963).

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