FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/19/2022 1:45 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 101167-9 COA NO. 56900-1-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KITSAP COUNTY, a political subdivision of the State of Washington,

Respondent,

VS.

DOMINIC CAMPESE, an individual,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY Superior Court No. 20-2-08648-2

KITSAP COUNTY'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

CHAD M. ENRIGHT Prosecuting Attorney

JACQUELYN M. AUFDERHEIDE WSBA NO. 17374 SUSAN L. ROGERS, WSBA NO. 19774 614 Division Street, MS 35A Port Orchard, WA 98366 (360) 337-4992 Attorneys for Kitsap County

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

V. ARGUMENT AND ANALYSIS

A. That the County Filed and then Dismissed its

Declaratory Judgment Action Does Not Make
Campese a Prevailing Party.

Campese frames the issue for direct review as whether a requester is entitled to fees when an agency initiates a

declaratory judgment action and then voluntarily dismisses it. First, several courts have recognized that public agencies may seek declaratory judgment to have their obligations under the PRA declared and delineated, even as recently as last month. Cantu v. Yakima Sch. Dist. No. 7, Wn. App. , 514 P.3d 661 (Filed August 2, 2022) ("An agency seeking adjudication that it is in compliance with the PRA can file a complaint for declaratory judgment.") (citing Benton County v. Zink, 191 Wn. App. 269, 277-78, 361 P.3d 801 (2015) (county had standing to bring declaratory judgment action to determine its compliance with the PRA)). See also Yakima Sch. Dist. No. 7 v. Magee, unpublished, 16 Wn. App. 2d 1079 (2021) ("We conclude the trial court correctly determined that YSD had standing to pursue its declaratory judgment action.")

In Soter v. Cowles Pub. Co., the Court of Appeals concluded, and the Supreme Court affirmed, that it was not improper for the school district to seek a declaratory judgment to determine its obligations with respect to a request for

records. *Soter v. Cowles Pub. Co.*, 131 Wn. App. 882, 907, 130 P.3d 840, 851 (2006), *aff'd*, 162 Wn. 2d 716, 752-755, 174 P.3d 60 (2007). In *Soter*, a newspaper made an argument like Campese's here: "Agencies with unlimited public funds should not be able to haul individual people who file a request under the public disclosure act into court." *Soter v. Cowles Pub. Co.*, 131 Wn. App. 882, 907, 130 P.3d 840, 851 (2006), *aff'd*, 162 Wn.2d 716, 174 P.3d 60 (2007). But the Court of Appeals concluded that an agency may seek a judicial ruling on the merits, stating:

[S]par[ing] the agency the uncertainty and cost of delay, including the per diem penalties for wrongful withholding. It does not prejudice the requester. It is immaterial who hauls whom into court, because the requester who prevails in any court action over the release of public records is entitled to attorney fees.

Id. at 907.

On appeal, the Supreme Court in *Soter* rejected arguments that agencies should not be permitted to initiate review of a PRA request by a superior court, stating:

[A] public records requester who does not wish to engage in a court battle could simply withdraw the public records request, making the agency's action moot. In addition, the requester could move for voluntary dismissal of the action if he or she no longer seeks access to the public record. CR 41(a). Withdrawing the record request is not significantly different from deciding to no longer pursue access to the record.

Soter v. Cowles Pub. Co., 162 Wn. 2d 716, 753 n. 16, 174 P.3d 60, 80 (2007). See also City of Fife v. Hicks, 186 Wn. App. 122, 145, 345 P.3d 1 (2015) (Concluding that public agency may use RCW 42.56.540 or file a declaratory judgment action to bring actions to enjoin the disclosure of requested documents).

As suggested in *Soter*, after the County filed its declaratory judgment action Campese could have withdrawn his request. Or, after receiving his first installment of records which released only 72 of 809 pages and identifying 737 pages as exempt attorney work product he could have reached out to the County about modifying his request. Or, he could have

pursued to the trial court the contention he makes here that Brady material, including Brady material produced as discovery to criminal defense counsel under CrR 4.7, are not exempt. He did none of these things.

Second, Campese's argument that a requester is a prevailing party if an agency initiates suit and then voluntarily dismisses it is without merit. In *Walji v. Candyco, Inc.* cited by Campese, the court rejected the definition of "prevailing party" in RCW 4.84.220 concluding that the parties intended a different meaning in an attorney fee provision in their lease. *Walji v. Candyco, Inc.*, 57 Wn. App. 284, 287-288, 787 P.2d 946 (1990). *Walji* is not applicable here.

Campese cites *Anderson v. Goal Seal Vineyards, Inc.*, but the case there concerned allowance of costs under RCW 4.28.185, the "long arm statute," enacted to facilitate service upon out-of-state defendants who prevail in an action. *Andersen v. Gold Seal Vineyards, Inc.*, 81 Wn.2d 863, 868, 505 P.2d 790 (1973).

In *Soper v. Clibborn*, the court interpreted an attorney fee provision in a landlord/tenant statute, RCW 59.18.290. *Soper v. Clibborn*, 31 Wn. App. 767, 769, 644 P.2d 738 (1982).

The Walji, Anderson, and Soper cases are not applicable here. "Washington follows the American rule that neither party can recover attorney's fees unless authorized by statute, contract or recognized ground of equity." Soper v. Clibborn, 31 Wn. App. 767, 768, 644 P.2d 738 (1982) (citing Public Utility Dist. 1 v. Kottsick, 86 Wn.2d 388, 545 P.2d 1 (1976)); see also Burt v. Washington State Department of Corrections, 191 Wn. App. 194, 361 P.3d 283 (2015) (citing Kottsick, the court of appeals concluded that equitable exceptions to the American rule for "misconduct or bad faith by a party" and "the dissolution of temporary restraining orders or injunctions when wrongfully issued" did not apply in action for attorney fees pursued by the estate of a PRA requester).

Here, the statute applicable to Campese's request for fees, costs, and penalties is RCW 42.56.550. The decisions

discussed above and in the next section support the conclusion that an agency may bring a declaratory judgment action to determine its obligations with respect to a request for records, and the requester is not entitled to fees, costs, or penalties unless records were wrongfully withheld. Campese's argument otherwise should be rejected.

B. <u>Campese Is Not a Prevailing Party Because He</u>
<u>Never Pursued a Determination Whether the</u>
<u>County Violated the PRA.</u>

Campese seeks fees, costs, and penalties under RCW 42.56.550(4), but he is not entitled to them unless he establishes that records were wrongfully withheld. The Public Records Act (PRA) provides:

(4) Any person who prevails against an agency in any action in the courts seeking the right to inspect or copy any public record or the right to receive a response to a public record request within a reasonable amount of time shall be awarded all costs, including reasonable attorney fees, incurred in connection with such legal action. In addition, it shall be within the discretion of the court to award such person an amount not to exceed one hundred dollars for each day that he or

she was denied the right to inspect or copy said public record.

RCW 42.56.550(4).

By its terms, the statute allows fees, costs, and penalties only to the prevailing party. *Bldg. Indus. Ass'n of Washington v. McCarthy*, 152 Wn. App. 720, 750, 218 P.3d 196 (2009). "A party prevails under [RCW 42.56.550(4)] if 'the records should have been disclosed on request." *Haines-Marchel v. State*, *Dep't of Corr.*, 183 Wn. App. 655, 674, 334 P.3d 99 (2014) (citing and quoting Spokane Research & Defense Fund v. City of Spokane, 155 Wn.2d 89, 103, 117 P.3d 1117 (2005)).

In Yakima v. Yakima Herald-Republic, 170 Wn.2d 775, 809, 246 P.3d 768 (2011), the Supreme Court affirmed that fees and costs may be awarded where it is determined that the requester had "the right to inspect or copy" or "the right to receive a response," and "penalties are authorized only for denials of "the right to inspect or copy." *Id.* (quoting Sanders

v. State, 169 Wn.2d 827, 860, 240 P.3d 120 (2010) (quoting RCW 42.56.550(4)).

In *Burt v. Washington State Dep't of Corr.*, 168 Wn.2d 828, 838, 231 P.3d 191 (2010), the requester of records sought attorney fees pursuant to RCW 42.56.550(4), but the Court denied the request, stating: "Because we remand this case and do not resolve whether Mr. Parmelee is entitled to the records requested, it is premature to award costs and attorney fees." *Burt*, at 838.

In Clarke v. Tri-Cities Animal Care & Control Shelter,
144 Wn. App. 185, 196, 181 P.3d 881 (2008), the Court of
Appeals determined that the Animal Care & Control Shelter
(TCAC) was subject to the PRA. However, it had not yet been
determined whether the requester was entitled to copy or
inspect records, thus she was not yet a prevailing party and it
was premature to award fees. *Id.* ("Because we have only
determined that TCAC is subject to the PDA, Ms. Clarke is not
yet the prevailing party in an action to enforce the right to copy

or inspect records, and her request is denied as premature"). See also Cortland v. Lewis County, 14 Wn. App. 2d 249, 473 P.3d 272 (2020), review denied, 196 Wn.2d 1039, 479 P.3d 710 (2021) (county never denied requestor access to a public record, as a prerequisite for filing an action for judicial review of an agency decision under the PRA; because there was no denial of access, the requester was not a prevailing party on the merits); White v. Clark County, 188 Wn. App. 622, 640, 354 P.3d 38 (2015) ("A petitioner prevails in a PRA action when the court determines that the agency wrongfully failed to disclose the requested records or otherwise violated the PRA.") (citing Spokane Research & Def. Fund v. City of Spokane, 155 Wn.2d 89, 103, 117 P.3d 1117 (2005); Haines–Marchel v. Dep't of Corr., 183 Wn. App. 655, 674, 334 P.3d 99 (2014); and Citizens For Fair Share v. Dep't of Corr., 117 Wn. App. 411, 437, 72 P.3d 206 (2003)).

Campese is not a prevailing party when the Prosecutor produced records responsive to Campese's modified records

request. The Prosecutor's voluntary disclosure of exempt records did not make the initial withholding of them unlawful. *Sanders v. State*, 169 Wn.2d 827, 849–50, 240 P.3d 120 (2010) (An agency that decides, after litigation is filed, to produce records that would otherwise be exempt is not in and of itself wrongful. "If they are exempt, the agency's withholding of them was lawful and its subsequent production of them irrelevant").

The County's summary judgment motion contains extensive discussion why Campese was not entitled to the Brady materials he requested in March 2020. CP 61-82 and 32-57. Campese never filed a response to the County's motion for summary judgment. Instead, Campese and the Prosecuting Attorney reached an agreement where the Prosecuting Attorney decided to waive work product as to those Brady materials provided to criminal defense counsel, and those records were produced to Campese. CP 86-100.

As stated in *Sanders v. State*, *supra*, and *Spokane*Research & Defense Fund v. City of Spokane, supra, if the trial court had decided that the Brady materials were work product and exempt from inspection and copying, then the fact that the Prosecutor produced a subset of those records after the suit was filed was not wrongful withholding.

No determination has been made whether the Brady materials Campese initially requested were wrongfully withheld. Campese abandoned these claims. *West v. Gregoire*, 184 Wn. App. 164, 172, 336 P.3d 110 (2014), *as amended* (Nov. 4, 2014) (a PRA claimant abandons PRA claims if the claimant does not address those claims in briefing, argument at trial, in summary judgment proceedings, or show cause proceedings).

Campese mistakenly relies extensively on *Coalition on*Government Spying (COGS) v. King County Dept. Of Public

Safety, 59 Wn. App. 856, 801 P.2d 1009 (1990), modified (Jan. 18, 1991), and abrogated by Spokane Rsch. & Def. Fund v. City

of Spokane, 155 Wn.2d 89, 117 P.3d 1117 (2005) to support his contention that agencies that produce records after suit is filed are subject to fees, costs, and penalties. But COGS was abrogated by Spokane Research & Defense Fund v. City of Spokane, 155 Wn.2d 89, 103, 117 P.3d 1117 (2005) ("prevailing" relates to the legal question of whether the records should have been disclosed on request") (citing Progressive Animal Welfare Soc'y v. Univ. of Wash., 114 Wn.2d 677, 688, 790 P.2d 604 (1990) (PAWS I); abrogation recognized by Neighborhood All. of Spokane Ctv. v. Spokane Ctv., 172 Wn.2d 702, 726-727, 261 P.3d 119 (2011) ("A violation [] results in a remedy . . . the harm occurs when the record is wrongfully withheld"). See also City of Fife v. Hicks, 186 Wn. App. 122, 146, 345 P.3d 1 (2015) (citing Soter, 162 Wn.2d at 753 n. 16, 174 P.3d 60 (It is only if the agency prosecutes an unsuccessful declaratory judgment action that the agency becomes liable for the requester's reasonable costs and attorney fees).

Contrary to Campese's contentions, the County's motion for voluntary dismissal of its Petition was not a final judgment and did not entitle Campese to fees, costs, and penalties. The County's motion expressly stated that its motion for voluntary dismissal without prejudice was "not intended to seek dismissal of those claims in Respondent's counterclaims, which are not rendered moot by settlement." *See Wachovia SBA Lending, Inc. v. Kraft*, 165 Wn.2d 481, 492, 200 P.3d 683 (2009):

[A] "voluntary dismissal" is not a final judgment. A voluntary dismissal leaves the parties as if the action had never been brought. .

No substantive issues are resolved, and the plaintiff may refile the suit. Because a voluntary dismissal is not a final judgment rendered in favor of the defendant, the Court of Appeals correctly concluded that Kraft cannot be considered a prevailing party" for the purpose of awarding fees.

Id. (citing Beckman v. Wilcox, 96 Wn. App. 355, 359, 979 P.2d 890 (1999); and State v. Taylor, 150 Wn.2d 599, 602, 80 P.3d 605 (2003)).

In granting the County's motion for voluntary dismissal without prejudice, the court reserved the issue of fees, costs, and penalties (CP 174-175). Then later, the trial court effectively preserved the opportunity for Campese to pursue whether the County violated the PRA and whether Campese was a prevailing party for purpose of fees, but Campese abandoned the claim. (CP 378-379)

As was the case in *Kraft*, no substantive issues have been resolved here. No determination was made on question whether the County violated the PRA. Unless and until a court determines that the Prosecutor wrongfully withheld records, Campese is not a prevailing party, and he is not entitled to fees, costs, or penalties.

VI. CONCLUSION

Appellate resources should not be wasted on parties who fail to pursue their claims before the trial court, who distort facts to obtain review, and who assert that an issue is of "great public importance" despite abandoning it below. The County's

declaratory judgment action was not frivolous, faux, or intended to vex Campese. Case law supports the Prosecutor's position that many of the Brady materials covered by Campese's request were attorney work product and exempt from public inspection and copying. That the Prosecutor decided to waive the privilege as to a subset of the exempt records does not make the previously filed declaratory judgment action wrongful.

The trial court correctly reserved and then denied as premature Campese's demand for fees, costs, and penalties.

The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that the trial court did not err in denying Campese's motion for fees, costs and penalties. Campese's petition for review should be rejected.

WORD COUNT CERTIFICATION

We hereby that this brief complies with the word limit of RAP 18.17(c)(10). This brief contains 4,615 words, excluding the items exempted by RAP 18.17(c).